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Section 7 - Narrative Description

Neighborhood

‘The St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School is located at 2101 - 07 West 21st Street, the
southwest corner of South Tloyne Avenue and West 21st Street, in the western portion of the
Lower West Side community area of Chicago. The Lower West Side is southwest of the
Chicago Loop and is bounded by 16th Street on the north, raifroad tracks just west of Western
Avenue on the west, and the Sonth Branch of the Chicago River to the cast and south. The
northeastern one-third of the community area was part of the original City of Chicago, organized
in 1837, while the remaining section, including the land upon which the St. Matthew LEvangelical
Iutheran School stands, was annexed in 1853,

The Lower West Side developed as a working-class neighborhood during the second hall of the
nincteenth century. The completion of the Illinois & Michigan Canal in 1848 and the
construction of the Chicago & Alton Railroad in the 1850s led to much industrial development
along the South Branch of the Chicago River by 1900. A prominent example was the
MecCormick Reaper Company factory, builtin {873 at 27th Street and Western Avenuc,
approximately a mile southwest of the St Matthew Evangpelical Lutheran School. The tand north
of these factorics developed from the 18605 onward with small-scale residential buildings,
mostly cottages and two- and (hree-flats intended for factory workers. Small commercial
buildings lined major streets, such as 18th Strect and Ashland and Blue Isfand avenucs.

The people that were attracted fo the Lower West Side were a mixture of many ethnic
backgrounds. The community area by 1900 contained the largest concentration of Bohemian
Czechs in Chicago, and the eastern portion of the neighborhood soon became known as “Pilsen,”
afler a city in Bohemia (now part of the Czech Republic). However, there were also large
numbers of other ethnic groups in the community area, including Germans, who established a
German-speaking enclave, called Heart of Chicago, west of Damen Avenue near Cermak Road
i the 1860s and 1870s. St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church and its school were two of
several religious institutions created to serve German-speaking people fiving in the arca.

Site
The S§t. Matthew Lvangelical Lutheran Schoo! is located on the southwest corner of West 21st
Street and South Hovne Avenue. The building Jot is of somewhat generous propostions in the
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context of the immediate neighborhood, allowing the building to be freestanding, set back
slightly from both streets, and to have all four facades clad with face brick, rather than the
common brick more typically used for side and rear elevations of Chicago buildings. Some
landscaping remains in the form of mature trees along the north facade, facing 21st Street.
Portions of a historic wrought-iron fence remain along 21st and Hoyne.

Historically, the school building was part of 2 larger complex of buildings owned by St. Matthew
Lvangelical Lutheran Church and centered on the 2{st Street - Hoyne Avenue intersection. To
the north, across 215t Street, stands the church itself, designed in 1887 by the Chicago architeot
I'rederick Ahlschlager. West of the church is a brick butlding, builtin 1897 as a three-story
building housing part of the St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School. (Due to a decline in
enrollment, this building was reduced in height to one story in 1927 and convered fo a
eymnasium-hall building.)

‘The immediate neighborhood surrounding the St Matthew Evangelical Tutheran School contains
streetscapes and individual buildings typical ol the working-class history of the Lower West Side
community arca. Most buildings surrounding the school were built hetween the 1870s and
World War I, arc small in scale, built of historically typical materials such as wood, brick and
stone, and detailed in historic architectural styles common to Chicago, including Italianate and
Romancsque Revival. The Douglas (now Blue) elevated line of the Chicago Transit Authority.
built in the 1890s, runs east-west between West 21 st and Cullerton streets, just behind St
Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church. Tts Hoyne Avenue stop encouraged the development of
two- and three-story commercial-residential buildings along Hoyne itself and at nearby
intersections such as 21st Street. Built of brick, these shop buildings sometimes have limestone
front facades. Interspersed with these buildings are an eclectic mix of frame cottages and brick
two- and three-flats. The oldest sit below current street grade and have small front yards, while
others are built flush with the public sidewalks. Some {rame houses have brick commercial front
additions. Directly o the west of St. Matthew Evangclical Lutheran School, on the south side of
West 21 st Strect, is a two-story brick factory building from the early 1920s, somewhat unusual
for the immediate neighborhood, but more common in the larger context of the Lower West Side.

Current Appearance of the St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School

Exteriar

T'he St. Matthew Lvangelical [utheran School is two-storics in height, with a raised basement. 1t
is cubic in its overall shape and symmetrical in its arrangement of doors and windows. With its
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relatively smooth brick walls, few projecting, architectural ¢lements, and low hipped roof, the
school gives a visual sense of self-contained volume.

All four facades of the building share common characteristics. The toundation is randomly laid,
buif-colored limestone. Lixlerior basement walls are red brick laid in a vanation of American
(somectimes calied common) bond, with six stretcher rows to one header row. Basement
windows have one-over-one, double-hung wooden sash with buff-colored limcstone sills und
brick lintels. Some have simple wrought-iron pritles. A projecting buff-colored limestone water
table runs completely around the building, separating the basement and upper walls. Upper walls
are reddish-brown in color and also are {aid in a variation of American bond, wilh five stretcher
rows 1o one header row. Some {irst- and sccond-floor windows retain the historic window
configuration of six-over-six, double-hung wooden sash, while others have onc-over-onc,
double-hung sash. Lixisting sash is painted cream or weathered w bare wood. (Many windows
are currently protected by plywood for securily reasons during rehabilitatton.) All upper-floor
windows have segmental-arched, bull-colored limestone Iintels set flush with the surrounding
brick wall. First-floor windows have individual, buli-colored hmestone sifls, while second-floor
windows rest on a projecting, bufl-colored limestone sill running continuousty around the
building. Below the building’s cormice are two bands of brick corbels. The lower band is
composed of three stepped courses forming triangles. 'I'he upper band has several brick courses
forming an upside-down castellated corbel. 'The comice itself 1s white-painted pressed metal and
has a simple profile running uninterrupted around the edge of the building’s roofline. A
shallow-pitched hipped roof, clad with shingles, is topped by a pressed-metal steeple. A
wrought-iron fence with cast-iron posts, ornamented with low-relief foliate ornament, surrounds
the property on the 21st and Hoyne street sides.

The north (main) facade, facing West 21st Strect, 1s five bays wide. [t has brick pilasters with
paired pressed-metal brackets at each building corner and flanking the central bay, which
contains the main entrance.  These pilasters divide the facade into a 2-1-2 bay confipuration and
are accented by bufl-colored limestone blacks af the water table and second-{ioor sill Ievels. The
main entrance was madified in the carly 19005 with a one-story projecting brick entry with a flat
rool and simple Classical pilasters flanking wooden double doors.  The basement can be entered
through the side of this entry pavilion. The top of the original entrance surround, with its simply
detailed entablature and segmental-arched pediment, can be seen above and behind this addition.
Above the entry are decorative stone panels with "EV.LUTH.SCHULTE™ and "1 8827 sct i raised
letiers. (The “UL™ in “SCHULE” has disuppeared through weathering, but the “ghost™ of the
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letters remains.) Windows are arranged evenly across the {acade, with the central entrance
flanked by two windows on cach side on the basement, first and sccond tloors. Bascment
windows have onc-over-one, double-hung wooden sash, while most first- and second-floor
windows retain their historic six-over-six, double-hung wooden sash. An additional second-lloor
window, directly above the entrance, has been partially filled with red brick, glass block, and
newer one-over-one, double-hung sash.

The east facade, facing South Hoyne Avenue, is six bays wide. DBrick pilasters similar to those
on the north facade mark each building comer and the center of the facade, dividing it into a 3-3
hay configuration. Six windows on cach {loor (basement, first floor, and sccond tloor) are
similar 1o those found on the north facade in overall detailing. Basement windows have
onc-over-one, double-hung wooden sash, while most first- and second-floor windows retain their
historic six-over-six, double-hung wooden sash. One exception is the northernmost second-floor
window, which was converted into a [ire escape with a door, the threshold of which s lower than
adjacent window sills. (The fire escape itself has been removed.}

The south {acade, facing the alley, is five bays wide and 1s very similar to the north facade in
detailing and window configuration. It has a larger sctback from the property linc than the other
three facades. with the land currently graveled for parking. Brick pilasters similar to those on the
norh and east facades mark each building corner and flank the central entrance, dividing the
facade into a 2-1-2 bay configuration identical to that of the north facade. A simple set of
wooden steps, without railings, leads to the central entrance, decorated with a Classical surround
formed from raised brick pilasters, aceented with limestone bases and capitals, and a buff-colored
limestone entuablature and segmental-arched pediment. The entablature and pediment are
identical with those found at the north entrance. A 14-panc transom above wooden double doors
provides light for the inner vestibule. (The existing steps and doors are crude replacements for
the historic buifding elements.) A basement entrance is below this central entrance. Window
arrangement and decorative treatments are similar to those on the north and cast facadcs.
Windows arc arranged evenly across the facade, with the entrance flanked by two windows on
cach side on the basement, {irst and second floors. An additional second-floor window is placed
directly above the entrance. Basement windows have onc-over-one, double-hung wooden sash,
with some also retaining historic wrought-iron grilles. Most first- and second-[loor windows
retain their historic six-over-six, double-hung wooden sash. A brick chimney projects from the
southwestern corner of the building.
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The west facade, the only ane not facing a public right-of-way. 1s similar in overall configuration
and detailing with the cast facade. Brick pilasters create a similar 3-3 bay configuration and
windows are arranged in a similar manncr with identical decorative treatment. Basemient
windows have one-over-one, double-hung wooden sash, while most {irst- and second-floor
windows refain their historic six-over-six, double-hung wooden sash.

The low-pitched hipped roof has no dormers or projections other than a central cupola, built of

WoOr and painted red, white and blue, Lach side of the cupola has a pair of
round-arched, louvered openings, ornamented with large keystones, and simple Classical
pilasters marking each corner. ‘Lhesc pilasters visually support an entablature running
continuously around the cupola. Round-arched pediments topped by long, narrow finials
ornament this enfablature. A steeply-pitched truncated-hip rool, covered with shingles. rises
above. 1tis topped by a long, narrow metal finial.

Interior

The St Matthew Fvangelical Lutheran School’s interior s divided between two upper floors and
4 husement. Bach floor is further subdivided into a central haliway that runs north-south through
the center of the building, flanked by high-ceilinged classrooms and auxiliary spaces to both the
cast and west.

On the building’s first floor, the nerth entrance, aithough hidden by the latter entry pavilion,
retains its historic wooden frame and double doors, paneled in a onc-over-two pattern. The south
entrance, however, no longer retains historic doors, although the existing double doors do respect
the dimensions of the original opening. The first-floor hallway connecting the two entrances has
simple wooden, tongue-and-groove wainscoting and is visually dominated by two wooden
staircases, rising from the center of the hallway to the second-floor hall. The north staircasce hups
the east wall of the hallway, while the south staircase is against the west wall. The staircases are
also detailed with wooden wainscot balustrades and have boldly turned, round wooden newet
posts at the bottom ol cach. Wooden doors with transoms provide access to first-lluor
classrooms from the hallway: some retain historic doors paneled in a 2-1-2 conliguration.
Additional transoms with simple moldings embellish the hallway walls. Maost woodwork,
including doors, door frames, transom frames, wainscoting and staircase newel posts, are painted
pale yellow.
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The first {loor historically had two classrooms, one on each side of the hallway. Floors were
wood, and walls and ccilings were plastered. Wood wainscoting, similar to that found in the
first-tloor hallway, originally covered the lower portion of the classroom walls. Simple wood
surrounds with curved moldings were used for doors and windows. Most of the plaster walls and
ceilings and wood window surrounds had been damaged by water infiltration, and much of the
wood wainscoting had disappeared in previous unsympathetic renovations and repairs, by the
time the current owner acquired the building in 1999,

The basement has a central hallway running through the center of the building. Lxterior
doorways, under the north and south entrances, provide direct access from the outside. Internal
access to the basement is gained through wood staircases placed under the main staircases.
These stairs are also wainscoted and have visually prominent posts at an intermediate landing,
made of wood, and at the bottom of the stajrcase. These newel posts, unlike those used for the
main staircases, are square and carved with both vertical and horizontal incising. A large room,
believed to have been a classroom or lunchroom and similar in size and conliguration to those on
the first floor, was to the east side of the hallway. 'Fo the west of the hallway, the basement once
had & small caretaker’s apartment. These rooms now are without plasterwork or wood detailing,
with cxposed brick walls, stone foundations und concrete floors.

The second floor originally had a large center hallway, similar in size and configuration to the
first-floor hallway and providing access to two second-{loor classrooms, similar in size and
configuration to those on the first floor. These classrooms had similar finishes and detailing,
historically as those on the first floor, including wood floors, plaster walls with wood
wainscoling, plaster ceilings, and wood window and door surrounds. Much of the floor’s historic
building fabric, including doors and moldings, had disappeared before the current owner had
taken posscssion of the building. Tn addition, most finishes in the classrooms, including plaster,
wainscoting, and window surrounds, had been badly damaged by water or hud disappeared by
that time..
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Section 8 - Narrative Statement of Significance

Summary

The St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School is locally significant under Criterion C for
architecture as a rare and well-preserved example ol an Italianate-style school building in
Chicago. Its period of significance is 1882, the year that it was constructed by St. Matthew
Jivangelical Lutheran Church to house a portion of the church’s thriving parochial school. The
building meets Criterion Consideration A for religious propertics. Although it was constructed
and owned by a religious institution during its period of significance, its historic significance is
due to its archilecture.

Within the historic context of Chicago school buildings, the St. Matthew Evangelical Tutheran
School is a early surviving example and unusual in its use of the Italianate style. The large
majority of Chicago school buildings that survive today and that have been documented by the
Chicago Distoric Resources Survey date from the {890s and later. Only a handful of school
huildings, including St. Matthew, remain from the carly 1880s and before. 1n addition. most
Chicago school buildings of the lute nineteenth and early twentieth centuries were designed 1n
the Romanesque or Classical revival styles. St Matthew’s use of the ltalianate style is
uncommon and is one of the few examples remaining in the city.

The Italianate Style and St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School

The St. Matthew Fvangclical 1.utheran School at 21st Street and Hoyne Avenuc was it in the
Italianate style, a popular and widespread architectural style in the United States from
approximately 1850 to 1890, Tt was especially common in Midwestern citics and towns such as
Chicago, which were growing rapidly during the years of the styie’s popularity.

‘I'he Italianate style began in England as part of the Picturesque movement, which was a reaction
to the formality of Neoclassicism and the Greek Revival, dominant stylistic movements in both
Furope and North America during the late eighteenth and early nincteenth centuries. John
Nash’s villa at Cronkhill and the Regents Park Village in London are early examples of buildings
basced on the visually charming villas, farmhouses and other buildings of rural northern Italy, the
original inspiration for the style. ‘The Amcrican archuteet Alexander Jackson Davis designed
several [talianate-style houses as iliustrations for Andrew Jackson Downing’s books extolling
suburban and country living. Many of these carly Italianate buildings, built before the Civil War,
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were closely patterned afler the asymmetrical lorms, projecting verandahs, and tall towers
associated with rural ltalian villas. Henry Austin’s Victoria Mansion for R.S. Morsc¢ in Portland,
Maine, buill in 1859, is un outstanding example from this carly period.

But the Ttalianate style also was used for a wide variety of building types other than houscs,
inciuding commercial and institutional buildings, and the style was adapted to working-class
buildings as well during its years of popularity. The style’s visual characteristics therelore could
vary greatly depending upon the expansiveness of the site and the available budget. The most
common characteristics associated with the Italianate style were round-arched windows, doors
and porch openings and brackets, often paired, that visually supported projecting cornices.
Hipped rools were commonly used, often paired with cupolas. Although frame Ttalianate-style
houses and small commercial buildings were not uncammon, most Italianate-style buildings in
Chicago were built of brick or stone, often with contrasting trim. Proportions were vertical, with
high, narrow windows. In urban areas such as Chicago, where high land values and building
costs encauraged regularity of building forni, most Italianate buildings were cubic in overall
form, with regular, oflen symmetrical facades. Red brick walls with light-colored limestone
trim, prominent window and door moldings, and projecting pressed metal cornices were comimon
clements among Chicago [talianate-style buildings.

The 81. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School is a Jate example of the use of the ltalianate style
for an institutional building, in this case a parochial school. The Romanesque Revival was
becoming more popular for such buildings in Chicago during the 1880s. Yct it remains a good
example of the style as used [or a Chicago school. Its overall symmetry, dark brick walls
contrasting with light stone trim, tall, double-hung windows with rounded lintels, Classical door
surrounds, cornice supported by double brackets, and central cupola with stylized Classical
ornament are all common aspeets of the Ttalianate style as used in Chicago. St. Matthew is not
an elaboratc example of the style. Its construction by a working-class congregation precluded
much claborate ornament. Yet it clearly exprosses through its materials, forms and overall
composition the characteristics of the ltalianate style.

The Italianate style was most commonly used in Chicago for residential and commercial
buildings. Iouses and flat buildings of the 1860s through the 1880s especially were constructed
in the style throughout Chicago, with many surviving examples in comumurity areas such as
Lincoln Park, West Town, and the Lower West Side. Store buildings along major shopping
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streets such as Milwaukee Avenuc and 18th Street also provide visual evidence of the style's
popularity during the years following the Chicago Fire of 1871,

IHowever, relatively few examples of [talianate-style schools survive in Chicago. Only three
other Ttalianate-style schools were identificd by the Chicago Historic Resources Survey,
conducted by the Commission on Chicago Landmarks and the Chicago Department of Planning
and Development between 1983 and 1996, in the St Matthew School’s immediate context, the
Lower West Side and the adjacent community areas of the Near West Side, Near South Side,
Armour Square, Bridgeport, McKinley Park, Brighton Park, South Lawndale and North
Lawndale. These three schools are the oldest section of the Ward Public School, located at 2703
- 09 South Shiclds Avenue in the Armour Square community arca; the oldest section of the
McClellan Public School, at 3505 - 11 South Wallace Avenue in the Bridgeport community area;
and the Mark Sheridan Public School at 2711 South Wallace Avenue, also in Bridgeport. Al
three possess characteristics of the Jtalianate style, with dark brick watls contrasting with light
stone trim and projecting metal cornices supported by brackets. Ward has round-arched
windows with contrasting stone lintels, while McClellan and Sheridan have flat-headed
windows, also with contrasting stone lintels. All three form the nucleus of larger school
complexes, with large additions from the first decade of the twenticth century.

Nincteenth-century Chicago schools and the St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School
The St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School is one of the oldest school buildings remaining in
Chicago and possesses both the physical characteristics common to nineleenth-century schools
and good integrity. Fred Ii. I1. Schroeder, in his essay on schoolhouses published in Built in the
U.SA: American Buildings from Airports to Zoos, noted that the basic form of
nincteenth-century school buildings in the United States was defined in a short work on school
architceture by William A. Alcott, published in 1832. In Alcotl’s view, an ideal school housc
contained Jarge, high-ceilinged classrooms, large windows providing good light and air
circulation, and adequatc playgrounds. This basic building program became the standard for
schaol building construction through the rest of the century.!

S Matthew is a survivor from the late nincteenth century, a ime when Chlucago was prowing,
rapidly and the need for new schools scemed never ending. The noted Chicago architectural

' Ired L. H. Schroeder, “Schoolhouses,” in Built in the U.S.A.: American Buildings from
Airports to Zoos, page 151,
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historian Carl Condit quotes Chicago Board of Education statistics that the city built 169 public
schoo! buildings between 1871 and 1900.7 The number of private schools, including church
schools, was also large. Based on information pathered by the Chicago Historic Resources
Survey, certain common physical characteristics of Chicago schools during this period can he
identificd. They commonly were two to four stories in height and built with load-bearing
exterior walls of brick, usually red. Facades were symmetrical, with central entrances
embellished with omament. Windows were tall and narrow. Classrooms, the number of which
could vary, opencd off central corridors, dominated by wooden slaircascs. St Matthew 15 a good
example of this basic building type.

Within the immediate context of the 1.ower West Side and adjacent community areas of the Near
West Side, Near South $ide, Armour Square, Bridgeport, McKinley Park. Brighton Park, South
I.awndale and North Lawndale, 35 public and private clementary and high schools built before
1940 were documented by the Chicago Historic Resources Survey. Of these, only 14 were built,
all or in part, before 1900, Of these 14, only four arc older than the St. Matthew Evangelical
Lutheran School.

T'he oldest of these four schools also is the oldest documented school building in Chicago, St
lgnatius College Preparatory, a privale Catholic school located at 1072 West Roosevelt Road in
the Near Wesl Side community area. It was designed by Toussaint Menard in 1867 in the
Second Empire style. The other three schools are public schools built by the Chicago Board of
ducation. The original section ol the Ward PPublic School, located af 2703 - (09 South Shields
Avenue in the Armour Square community area, dates from 1874, In Bridgeport, the oldest
section of the McClelian Public School, at 3565 - 11 South Wallace Avenue, dates from 1881.
Also from 1881 is the original building for the Mark Sheridan Public School at 2711 South
Wallace, also Jocated in Bridgeport. All three of these public schools were designed 1n the
[talianate style.

Only three of the remaining schools in these nine community areas datc {rom the 1880s. These
are the original seetion of the Thomas Jelferson Public School, located at 1506 - 14 West
Fillmore Street in the Near West Side community arca, buill in 1884, the Walsh Public School al
901 - 11 South Peoria Street, located in the Tower West Side, built in 1886, and the John C.
Iaines Public Schoot, located i Armour Square at 231 - 311 West 23rd Place, the oldest section

2 Cart Condit, Chicago, 1910 - 29: Building, Planning, asd Urban Techrology, page 11
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of which also dates from 1%%6. Nine schoo! buildings date from the 1890s. while the rest were
built atter 1900,

‘The St. Matthew Fvangelical Lutheran School is unusual in that it retains its original exterior
form dating from 1882. St. Ignatius and the Ward, McCleilan and Sheridan public schools all
nave had substantial additions. Especially in the casc of the three public schools, these additions
are larger than the original buildings and alter the viewer’s perception ol the buildings” original
appearances in their streetscapes.  In addition, St. Matthew was built as a parochial school.
(*hurch schools were common in nineteenth-century Chicago, but relatively few survive. Nextto
St. Ignatius and St. Matthew, the oldest church-built school located within these nine community
areas and documented by the Chicago Eistoric Resources Survey was the St Vitus School, a
Roman Catholic parochial school located at 1812 - 16 South Paulina Street in the Lower West
Side, built in 1903, more than 20 years afler St. Matthew,

The Early History of the Lower West Side

The carlicst nonnative settlement in the Lower West Side community arca ocewred n the 1830s,
when a fow farmers settled in the mostly swampy flatlands spreading southwest of the new
settlement of Chicago. As Chicago grew, the city annexed the area in two stages, the
northeastern one-third in 1837, the rest in 1853. The completion of the Hlinois & Michigan
Canal in 1848 and the construction of the Chicago & Alton Railroad in the 1850s encouraged
industrial development along the South Branch of the Chicago River, the castern and southern
houndaries of the community arca.

The Lower West Side remained relatively sparsely settled until the carly 1870s, when the
Chicago Fire of 1871 encouraged many Chizagoans burned out of their homes o relocate outside
the fire district. 1 was during the next [our decades, through World War [, that the community
arca gained its historic working-class character. 1t became a port of entry for thousands of
FEuropean immigrants, who moved into modest cottages and houses and small flat buildings.
Many were Bohemian Czech and much of the neighborhood became known informally as
“Pilscr.” after the second largest city in Bohemia. Tlowcever, the Lower West Sidc also attracted
large numbers ol other nationalitics. including Germans, Poles, Swedes, Lithuamans, Slovaks,
Croafians, and Ttalians,

Major industrial employers established themselves along the edges of the community, including,
the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad yards, lumber yards, and the garment manufacturing
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fucilities of the Hart, Schaflner & Marx Company, the largest clothing maker in the nation at the
turn of the century. Especially important was the McCormick Reaper Company, which burtlt the
first of several factory buildings at 27th Strect and Western Avenue in 1873, encouraging both
residential and commereial development in the western half of the Lower West Side, including
the area around the St Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church, the [irst church building of which
was built at 21st Street and Hoyne Avenue in September [871.

The Establishment of $t. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church and School

$t. Matthew Evangelical Tutheran Church is located in a section of the T.ower West Side known
informally as Heart of Chicago. Located west of Damen, near Cermak Road (formerly 23rd
Street), eart of Chicago was the location of the largest German community in the Lower Wesl
Side, which developed rapidly during the 1860s and 1870s. Several important institutions served
the neighborhood’s residents, including St. Matthew and St. Paul Roman Catholi¢ Church,
located two blocks to the south at 22nd Place and Iloyne Avenue.

(. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church was onc of several churches established on the
northwest and southwest sides of Chicago during the nineteenth century by the FLutheran Church
of Missouri, Ohio and other States, now known as the T.utheran Church - Missouri Synod. With
the first T.utheran church in Chicago established in 1847, Lutheranism was the most prominent
Protestant denomination in Chicago during the late 1800s, calering to those immigrant groups,
including Germans and Swedes, from countries where Lutheranism was a sirong presence. The
denomination grew rapidly in Chicago, from fewer than 500 members in 1850 to 75,000 in 1870.

Several Lutheran synads, or associations of T.utheran churchcs, were represented by individual
congregations in Chicagoe. The Lutheran Church - Missouri Synod was the largest of these.
Founded in Chicago in 1847 and headquartered in St. Louis, Missouri, practically all carly
members of the Missouri Synod were German immigrants and their children. All activities,
including church services and classes, were held exclusively in German. German immigration (o
Chicago rapidly increased after the Civil War, until by 1900 close to one-fourth of Chicago’s
population was estimated to be German by birth or hentage. The Missouri Synod was atiractive
to many of these Chicagoans. By 1881, the Lutheran Church - Missouri Synod had 13 churches
in Chicago. By 1895, the Missouri Synod had 30 churches and 55,552 members in Chicago. and
41 churches by 1907. Most of these churches, including St. Matthew, were located
working-class nciphborhoods such as the 1.ower West Side that were home to the many
German-bom workers whose livelihood was tied to the many nearby factories.
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Nincteenth-century German Protestant immigrants saw religious instruction as the heart of
cducation. In his study of German Lutberan churches in Chicago, Sharvy Umbceck notes that (3.
H. I.oeher, an early German Lutheran settler in the Midwest, stated that one of the main reasons
many German Protestants had for emigrating to America was “to avoid having children traimed in
schools which do not {each Christianity.”™ The first constitution of the Lutheran Church -
Missouri Synod, instituted in 1847, granted great autonomy o individual churches, but required
the establishment of & parochial school as a prerequisite for membership. Tndividual Tutherans
were expected 1o send their children to the local parochial church. I was not mandatory, but was
stated as a moral responsibility that parents accepted upon having children. As an early
twenticth-century writer noted,

The Christian day school is a most important and necessary institution to assure

the sound progressive development and the stability of our congregations.

Congregations that do not establish day schools for their children and engage

Christian teachers to tcach them commit a grievous sin. Parents who send their

children to public schools in preference to their own parish schools are cqually

culpable. Congregations that arc not willing to establish schools should be duly

admonished, and if such admonition is not needed shall be cxpelled from the

Synod. Itis the duty of the chureh 1o provide well trained and quahficd teachers

for the parish schools. !

Dominated by ethnic Germans and conservative in its doctrine, Missouri Synad Lutheranism
helieved that it was the repository of the “true faith” and that the church had a strong
responsibility, along with parents, to protect ard nurture the proper spiritual lives of children
through the establishment of parochial schools. Therefore, the creation of church schools was an
important activity of the Missouri Synod. Often, a church school would be established in a
neighborhood before the church itself. During the nineteenth century, instruction was in German
and liberally laced with religious teachings. These church schools provided a bulwark against
rapid assimilation into American society and the loss of German Luthceran identity. These
parochial schools, with their use of German and their emphasis on the “pure doctrine™ of

s Quoted in Sharvy Greiner Umbeck, “The Social Adaptations ol a Selected Group of
Gierman-Background Protestant Churches in Chicago.” PhoDD. dissertation, University ot
Chicago, 1940, page 109.

4 M. Wicderaenders, “Our Problem of Elementary Christian Fducation,” Kirchliche Zeitschrift
(1925), pages 104 - §; quoted in Umbeck, page 110.
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Luthcranism, also was scen by Missouri Synod churches as a barrier to the swelling tides of
“Americanism.” By educating children in chureh schools, the Missouri Synod heped to insulate
them from influences, both secular and religious, that might tempt them away {rom the beliefs of
Missouri Synod Lutheranism. A 50th-anniversary book published by St Matthew, Zum
Goldenion Jubilaum der Fyvang. Luth. St Matthaus-Gemeinde, stated, “Our Synod has always
encouraged the establishment of such schools and seen to it that Christiun teachers are trained to
lead these schools.™

St. Matthiew was the eighth Missouri Synod church established in Chicago. an offshoot of
Immanuel Evangelical Lutheran Church at 19th and Johnson street, farther east in the Lower
West Side. Typical of the Missouri Synod, a mission church school was established first, in
1869 in a building at Paulina Street and 21st Place. In Septentber 1871, 30 families belonging to
Immanue! but living near the mission schoot split off [rom the patent church and founded St.
Matthew. Fhe first church building, a frame Gothic Revival building, was built in 1872 at the
northwest corner of 21st Street and Hoyne Avenue. The new church’s basement was equipped to
house the church school, which moved there from the older Paulina Street school building. No
longer needed. this school building was sold and converted to commercial use.

I'he increased moverment of Chicagoans into the neighborhood during the 1870s, many of whom
were German, brought about increased school attendance and expansion. Dircetly to the west of
the church itself, a two-story brick school building with two classrooms was constructed in 1870,
next 1o the pastor’s house. Then, in 1882, an additional school building (and the building being
considered by this nomination) was constructed across 2tst Street from the church. Built for
$12.000, it was dedicated on October 1, 1882, Fhe architect remains unknown.

Later Iistory of St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School

In 1887, St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church burned down. It was rebuilt as a brick
church with stone trim to the designs of Chicago architect Frederick Ahlschlager. Ten years
later, in 1897, the two-story brick school built in 1876 and located to the west of the church was
rehuilt as a three-story school building.

5w Goldenon Jubilaum der Fvang. Luth. St Matthaus-Gemeinde, Chicago: St Matthews
Fvangelical Lutheran Church, page 3.
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St. Matthew Fvangelical Lutheran Church was a well-established church at the turn of the
century with approximately 3,000 members. However, enrollment in the St. Matthew
Evangelical Tutheran School gradually declined through the carly years of the twentieth century.
In the late 1870s, the school had had 996 children and 9 teachers. By the 1920s, it had declined
cnough that instruction was consolidated in the 1882 school building and the 1897 building was
remadeled as a one-story gymnasium and hall. Then, in 1962, the school was closed entirely.
Dwindling enrollments, combined with the projected expense of upkeep and renovation, were the
reasons for this decision.

In general, this history of slow decline mirrors the larger history of Missouri Synod parochial
schools in Chicago. As German immigration declined during the early 1900s, the number of
families wanting to send their children to a German-speaking parochial school declined as well,
In 1902, 8,780 studenis studied in 34 schools. During the twentieth century, the number of
students declined despite the increased number of schools. In 1910, Missouri Synod parochial
schools contained only 6,874 students, spread among 39 schools. By 1920, this number had
declined to 6,224 students in 39 schools, and by 1930, total enrollment had dropped to 5.823
students despite having 44 schools in Chicago. This decline continued during the Great
Depression, with 5,450 students enrolled in 43 schools by 1938,

T he St. Matthew Evangelical Lutheran School building remained in the possession of St
Matthew for several years aller its closing, and was used for Sunday School classes and as the
pasior’s office until 1965, when it was sold to the Living Word of Faith Community Pentecostal
Church. In 1998, the building was bought by its current owner and rehabilitation into lofl
apartments began. The school building remains a fine example of an Italianate-style school
building, unusual in the context of Chicago architecture.



NES Farm 10 906 a COMED Apcval B 1024 001G
8 BE)

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

‘ 9 16
Sectionnumber _"..____  Page ) .
ST. MAITHEW EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN SCHOOL

Section 9 - Bibliography
Andreas, A.T. [istory of Chicago. 3 vols. Chicago: Al Andreas, 1884,

Blumenson, John I.-G. Identifving American Architecture: A Pictorial Guide o Siyles and
Terms, 1600 - 1945, Nashville: American Association for State and Local Iistory, 1977.

Built in the U.S.A.- American Buildings from Airports to Zoos. Building Watchers Series.
Washington, D.C.: Preservation Press, 1985,

Commission on Chicago Landmarks and Chicago Departiment of Planning and Development.
The Chicago Historic Resources Survey. Chicago: Chicago Department of Planning and
Development, 1996,

Condit, Carl W. Chicayo, 1910 - 29 Building, Planning, and Urban Technology. Chicago:
UIniversity of Chicago Press, 1973,

Zum Goldenon Jubilaum der Evang. Luth. St. Matthes-Gemeinde. Chicago: St. Malthews
Evangelical Lutheran Church, 1921. '

Gowans, Alan. Styles and Tvpes of North American Architecture: Social Function and Cultiral
Expression. New York: Icon Lditions, 1992,

Ilarris, Cyril M. American Architecture: An Mlustrated Encyclopedia. New York: W. W. Norton
& Co., 1998,

McAlester, Virginia & Lee. A Field Guide to American Houses. New York: Alfred A. Knopf,
1984.

Pacyga, Dominic A and Ellen Skerrcit. Chicago, City of Neighborhoods: Histories & Towrs.
Chicago: Loyola University Press, 1936.

Picree, Bessic ouise. A History of Chicago. 3 vols. Chicago: University of Chicapo Press,
1937 - 57.



KBS E o i RN a g 4
s G Ap ool i 0 DG TY

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number 2 Page R

ST. MATTHEW EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN SCHOOL.

Rifkind, Carole. A Field Guide to American Architecture. New York: New American Library,
1980,

St Matthew v, Lutheran Church, 1871 - 1971 Onward Serving Christ. Chicago: St. Malthew
Fvangelical Lutheran Church, 1971,

Tischauscr, Leslie V. “Theology & Politics: Lutherans versus (Catholics in Chicago, 1888 -
1898." Seminar paper, University of Chicago, Spring 1975.

Umbeck. Sharvy Greiner. “The Social Adaptations of a Selected Group ol German-Background
Protestant Churches in Chicago.” Ph.D. dissertation, University of Chicago, 1940).

What Style Is It? A Guide (o American Avchitecture. Building Watchers Scries. Washington,
[D.C.: Preservation Press, 1983,

Wittman, Timothy N. “Thalia Hall.” Preliminary Staff Summary of Information submitied to the
Commission on Chicago Tandmarks, October 1988.



MES Formn 10 E o
{8 86 ' DM Apgwowal Mo 100 008

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

. 1
Section number 20 Page 18 _
ST, MATTIEW CVANGELICAL LUTHERAN SCHOOL

Section 10

Verbal Boundary Description
T'he S$t. Matthew Livangclical T.utheran School occupies the property in the City of Chicago that
is legally defined as [ollows:

Lots 1,2, 3 & 4 of Chas, W, Clayton’s Sub. of the N. %2 of Block 59 in Sub. of

Sec. 19-39-14.

Boundary Justification
The nominated property includes the building historically associaled with the St. Matthew
Fvangelical Lutheran School and the bulding lots upon which the building sits,
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WZEKLY LIST OF ACLULONS TAKEN ON FRUFERTTES - 1/24/00 THROUGH 1/28/00
KEY: Erate, CUoundy, Property Hame, Address/Howulary, City, Vicinity, Reference Number, KHL, Action, Late, Multigle Name

COLORADD, ALAMOSA COUNTY, Husuno Hardware, £25 Main St., Alamosa, QU3C00n3, LISTED, 1/28/n0

COLURADG, EL PASU COUNTY, MeGregor Hall, 330 N. Cascade Ave., Colorade fprirngs,  $500170%, LISTED, 1/27/00 (Culorads Colleye
MES)

COLCRADG, EI PASO COUNTY, Tickror Hall, 926 Cascade Ave,, Coluradeo Springs, 9901704, LISTED, 1/27/00 tColerade Cal loge
MES)

COIORADD, LAS ANTMRSG COUNTY, First Baprisr Churci,, A09 San Pedro &1 ., Trinidad, 0aacooos, LIETED, 1/28/u0

FLORIDA, LAKE COUNTY, Methodines Episcopal Church, Seuth, at Ubati1la, 100 W, Guerrant St., Enatiila, FIGOLT0T, LLISTED,
1/z7/00

GECRGTA, RICIMOND COUNTY, YUnited States Dost Office anid Courchouse, 500 F. Ford St.. Augusca, FIAGIR4E, LISTED, 1/22/040
ILLINDIS, CGOK COIMNTY, St. Matthey Evangelical Lutheran Scheol, 2101-2107 w. 2lst Bt ., Chicago, 99a01710, LISTED, 1/27t/00
TLLINQIS, MADTSON COUNTY, Hut el Srravford, 229 Marker Sr., aliom, 9340l7u%, LISTED, L/z20/0a

ILLINOIS, VERMILION COUNTY, Dale Buiddipy, 161-1-3 H. Verwmilllen Eu., Danwville, #3001711, LISTED, 1/2%/00

LCUISTAKA, CEFFEHSON PRRISH, Kerner House, 1012 Monroe St , Gretna, aooooood, LisTED, 1/28/00

LOUISIANA, RITHIANT PARISH, Delbi Municipal Baseball Park, Chicagn ond Louisiana Sts. | Delhi, o0naco0o7, LISTED, 1/28/00
MICHIGAN, CHITPEWA CUUNTY, Parker Road--Charlotte River Briuyge, Parker Rd. cver Charictte Bivor,, Burce Township, 00000909,
LISTED., 1/26/00 (Highway bridges of Michigan Mps5)

MICHTGAN, LEELANAU COUNTY, Lake Leelanal Nerrows Bradyge, M-204 caver Lake Leelanau Narrows, Leland Township, 99001732,
LISTED, 1/:7/00 {Highway Bridges of Michigan MPS}

MICRIGAN, LENEWEE CUUNTY, Van Wagoner, Murray T, Memcrial Bridge, MI 15§ over Silwer Cr., Morenoi, Q5A01731, LISTED,
1/27/00 {Ilighway Brudoes of Michigan MRE)

MICHTGAN, CAKLAND COUNTY. Eerby Strect--Srand Trunk Western Railroad Rridge, Derkby Si. over Ow Railroad, Birmingham,
§9001734, LISTED, 1/27/00 {Highway Dridges of Michigan Mps}

MICHIGAN, OAFKLAND CUUNTY, Gillespie Street--Clinron River Bridge, Gillespie El. over Clinton R.., Pontiac, 95001729, LISTED,
1/27/00 {Highway Bridges of Michigan MES)

MICHIGAN, OAKTAND COUNTY, Trowhridge Ecad--Graml Trunk Western Railrond Bridae, Truwhridge Hd. over oTwW Railroad, Bloomfield
Hills, 00400910, LISTED, 1/28/00 {Highway Bridges of Michigan Mpg)

MICHTGAN, ST, CLATR COUNTY, Indian Trail Road--Bella Riwver Bridge, lndian Trail Rd. cver Belle River, China Township,
00000012, LISTER, 1/28/uQ [Hiytway Bridges of Mivhigan MPS)

MICHLGAN, ST. CLAIR CCUNTY, Jedds Road--Scuth Branch Mill Creex Drain Bridge, Jeddn Rd. guer £. Pranch Mill Croel Trzin,
Brookway Township, 0anoooL3, LISTED, 1/28/00 (Highway Bridges of Michigan MPS)

MICHIGAN, S1, CLAT™R COUNTY, Masters Foad--Belle Kiver Bridge, Masters Rd. over Belle E., Riley Township, 93001728, LISTED,
1/27/00 (Higlway Bridges of Michigan MPS)

MICHLIGAN, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, Veormier Street--Swin Creek Bridge, Vernier St. over Swan Cr.. lra Township, ggooants, LISTED,
1/28/00 (Highway Eridgcs of Michigan MPS)

MTCHIGAN, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, Wadhams Road-- ine River Bridge, Wadhams Rd. uver Pine River, Saint tClai: Township, Coouoold,
LISTED, 1/28/00 (Highway Bridges of Michigan MPS)

KNEW MEXTCO, DERNALILLO COUNTY, Hendren Buildirng, 3001 Monte Vista Blwd, WE, AlbuquuquE, 23001678, LISTED, 1/27/00
tharto-oriented Commercial Development in Albuquerque, MES)

NEW MEX1CO, RERNALILLO COUNTY, Newlander Apartments, 616 Coal Rve., Albuguerdque, 93001677, LISTED, 1/37/00 {(Multi-upit
Dwellings in Albugquerque, New Mexico MES)

NORTH CRROLINA, ASHE COUNTY., Todd Histurico Niserict, Along Tode Railread Grade Bd., PBig Hill ®d., and Carter Miller Rd.,
Todd,  00CU0017, TISTED, 1/28/00

CHEQ, HELMONT (WINTY, Zweiqg BHuilding, 33%& Belmont 5t., Hellaire, oogguois, LISTED, i/z28/00

OREGUN, BENTON COUNTY, Avery--Helm Historie District, Roughly Rounded by 8W »nd, trh, and Jeffersen St=. and o 20/34
By-PFass, Corvallis, 99001716, LISTEDR, 1/27/a0

OREGON, HOOD K1VER COMNTY, Dutler Hank, 3I01 fOak Ave ., Hood River, 994001712, LISTED, 1/2% /00

OFEGIN, MULTHOMAH (QUNTY, Emerscon Apartmints, 5310 n, Williams Ave. . Portland, 95001714, LISTED, 1/z7/00

OARGON, MULTHNOMAY COUNTY, Gresham Carneqie Librapry, 410 N. Main St Gresham, 99001715, LISTED, 1/24/00

SOUTH CAROLTINA, SPARTANEURG COMMTY, Spartanburg Historic Distrier {Boundary Inrreasel, 100 Blk. of E. Main St_, Spartanbury,
LOUasnYY, LISTED, 1/25/00

SOUTH DAMOTA, CLAY COURMYTY, Seuth Dakota Department of Transportabion Bridaes No. 14-060-032, Local Rd. owver Spring Creek,
Wakonda wvicinity, annoogzg, LISTED, 1/2B/00 {Historic Bridges in Souch Dakota mMps]




